OCT 1 3 2016

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Cause No. 335283

93731-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KIM MIKKELSEN

Petitioner

FILED

OCT 19 2016

WASHINGTON STATE

SUPREME COURT

v.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT #1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY, JOHN HANSON, PAUL ROGERS, ROGER SPARKS, and CHARLES WARD,

Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

J. Jay Carroll, WSBA #17424 Halverson | Northwest Law Group P.C. 405 East Lincoln Avenue Yakima, WA 98901 Telephone: (509) 248-6030 Facsimile: (509) 453-6880

jcarroll@halversonNW.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Kim Mikkelsen, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' Decision Terminating Review designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Mikkelsen requests that the Supreme Court review the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, *Mikkelsen v. Public Utility District # 1 of Kittitas County, et al.*, in case No. 335283 filed September 13, 2016. A copy of the decision is attached in the Appendix, pages A-l through A-43.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In a sex or age discrimination case under the three part *McDonnell Douglas* "shifting burden" analysis on summary judgment, once the plaintiff has satisfied the first burden and the burden then shifts to the defendant under the second part of the test, if the plaintiff can demonstrate issue of facts exist as to either of the next two burdens under the *McDonnel Douglas* test, should summary judgment be denied to the defendant and the plaintiff then be permitted to try the case on the merits?

- a. In order to be able to prevail on a summary judgment motion on the second and third "shifting burden" test of *McDonnell Douglas* must the defendant establish compliance with the second test and the plaintiff's alleged failure as to the third test <u>as a matter of law</u> in order to be entitled to summary judgment? If issues of fact exist as to either test, is summary judgment appropriate?
- 2. In an action to enforce provisions of an employee manual by the employee, can the employer establish, as a matter of law on a summary judgment motion by the language used that the policy cannot be used to alter the "at will" relationship with the employee.
 - a. What is the "disclaimer" language of such policy that can be used or, is it an issue of fact for the trier of fact to determine, based on the evidence presented?
- 3. With respect that an employee manual has "Promises of Specific Treatment" in both words and practice by the employer, what is the showing that an employee must make to resist a summary judgment motion by the employer and is it an issue of fact?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kim Mikkelsen ("Mikkelsen") was born in 1954 and obtained her college degree in 1976. She was hired by the Kittitas County Public Utility District (PUD) in 1987 and that began her 27 year career with the PUD. Mikkelsen was hired as the finance manager. (CP 315; 391-93). The Kittitas County PUD has a three member Board of Commissioners ("Board") that oversee operations and it employs a General Manager to oversee operations. Mikkelsen served under three different General Managers prior to defendant Ward being hired. (CP 316; CP 326-28)

Immediately before defendant Ward was hired, Mikkelsen was asked by the PUD Board to assume the duties of the interim General Manager of the PUD. She agreed to do so. (CP 317) She was the interim manager from October 2009 through July 2010. (CP 416) The Board then hired defendant Charles Ward ("Ward") as the next General Manager of the PUD. His tenure ran from July 1, 2010 through December 31, 2011 (18 months) at which time his employment was terminated by the Board. (CP 395 & 404).

1. Adoption Of The "Corrective Action Policy"

During her time as interim General Manager at the PUD, Mikkelsen developed a "Corrective Action Policy" for the discipline of PUD

employees. (CP 317) The intent was to have "guidelines" in place so that everybody knew what the rules were. (CP 417-18)

After the adoption of the Corrective Action Policy and during Mikkelsen's time as the interim General Manager, she utilized the Corrective Action Policy. (CP 317; 419). The same Corrective Action Policy was utilized by Ward as well. Ward was faced with the discipline issue as General Manager and the Corrective Action Policy was used as it was designed. (CP 317; 556). There is no evidence in the record, up until Mikkelsen's termination, that the Corrective Action policy was not followed.

Once Ward was hired as the General Manager in July 2010, Mikkelsen resumed her position as the Finance Manager. While Mikkelsen's relationship with Mr. Ward was initially unremarkable, it did not take long for certain issues to arise. In about December 2010, Mikkelsen began to notice a distinctly different treatment from defendant Ward. Ward's gender bias became more overt as time passed. Ward began referring to the "girls", "gals" or "ladies" in clerical positions, yet when referring to the male line crew, he avoided using "guys" or "men" or "boys." (CP 318-19; CP 434-37).

In March, 2011 (9 months after Ward becomes General Manager), Mikkelsen initiated a meeting with Ward on March 30, 2011. Among other

topics of discussion, Mikkelsen specifically addressed gender discrimination issues with defendant Ward as they pertained to Mikkelsen. (CP 318).

The atmosphere did not improve on the gender front from defendant Ward toward Mikkelsen. (CP 318). In July 2011, the President of the PUD Board, Commissioner Hanson, called Mikkelsen to inquire as to how things were going. Mikkelsen told President Hansen many of the items addressed above. When President Hanson called Mikkelsen on the 24th of July, 2011, she specifically told him of Ward's different treatment of her than that of her male contemporaries. (CP 318-19).

Mikkelsen was gone the next week in August 2011. She returned to the PUD on Monday, August 23, 2011. At 3:48 p.m. that day, defendant Ward met with Mikkelsen. At the meeting, Ward read from a written script as he fired Mikkelsen. (CP 398-99) There was no hearing. There was no debate. There was no discussion. Defendant Ward read from his written script and fired Mikkelsen from her 27 year position at the PUD. The only thing that the written script allowed defendant Ward to say was that "it's not working out." When Mikkelsen asked what "it" was, defendant Ward would not answer. In the 13 months of supervision under Ward, not one document was placed in Mikkelsen's personnel file, nor was any verbal discipline rendered. (CP 319).

Mikkelsen specifically asked for, and was provided, a copy of her personnel file. There are absolutely no adverse items in her file.

Mikkelsen had never been reprimanded, admonished or disciplined in any manner in the 27 years she was employed by the PUD. (CP 319)

Ward never came to Mikkelsen to address any concern or to discuss any issue with respect to work related issues. As stated above, there was nothing in the Mikkelsen personnel file from defendant Ward stating any problems. (CP 319-20).

Mikkelsen was fired by defendant Ward on August 23, 2011. Defendant Ward's employment with the PUD was terminated by the Board in November 2011. The resolution to terminate Defendant Ward's employment as the General Manager of the PUD was first introduced to the Board of Commissioners on November 29, 2011, about three months after Ms. Mikkelsen's termination. (CP 404)

After being terminated by the PUD, Ms. Mikkelsen filed for unemployment benefits. In response to her application, the PUD stated, when asked whether the discharge was based on "cause" replied, "Ms. Mikkelsen was an "at will" employee and was terminated without cause." (CP 402)

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

1. The Appellate Court did not Properly Apply the McDonnell Douglas test and Clarification of the Standards on Summary Judgment Would Benefit the Public.

The ultimate issue to be decided by the jury in a discrimination case, at trial, brought under RCW 49.60.180(2) (WLAD) is for the plaintiff to show that the "protective characteristic" [sex and age in this case] was a "substantial factor" in the adverse employment action. See Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 444, 334 P.3d 541 (2014). A plaintiff in a discrimination case can prove her case by utilizing direct evidence and/or circumstantial evidence. The more difficult path is the direct evidence method. Courts recognize that employers typically don't leave an identifiable trail of discriminatory practices:

Direct, "smoking gun" evidence of discriminatory animus is rare, since "[t]here will seldom be 'eyewitness' testimony as to the employer's mental processes," *United States Postal Serv. Bd. Of Governors v. Aikens*, 460 U.S. 711, 716, 103 S.Ct. 1478, 75 L.Ed.2d 403 (1983), and "employers infrequently announce their bad motives orally or in writing. *deLisle v. FMC Corp.*, 57 Wn. App. 79, 83, 786 P.2d 839 (1990). Consequently, it would be improper to require every plaintiff to produce "direct evidence of discriminatory intent." *Aikens*, 460 U.S. at 714 n.3, 103 S.Ct. 1478. Courts have thus repeatedly stressed that "[c]ircumstancial, indirect and inferential evidence will suffice to discharge the plaintiff's burden. *Sellsted v. Wash. Mut. Sav. Bank*, 69 Wn. App. 852, 860, 851 P.2d 716, *review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1018, 863 P.2d 1352 (1993). "Indeed, in discrimination

<u>cases it will seldom be otherwise...</u>" deLisle, 57 Wn. App. at 83, 786 P.2d 839.

Hill v. BCSTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 179-80, 23 P.3d 440 (2001)(emphasis added).

This was not a "direct evidence" pathway case. The "circumstantial evidence" pathway to proving a WLAD claim provides a significantly different method of proof to be followed in order to defeat summary judgment. The framework is referred to as the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis first articulated in *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973), first adopted in Washington in *Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 753 P.2d 517 (1988).

The *McDonnell Douglas* analysis establishes a three part "shifting burden" procedure to be followed in such a circumstantial evidence situation. *See Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 340, 354, 172 P.3d 688 (2007). First, Plaintiff must establish a prima facie case of discrimination looking to several factors. The Court of Appeals found that Plaintiff met this first burden so it will not be further discussed. Once the plaintiff satisfies this first prong, a presumption of discrimination arises and the burden shifts to the employer to present a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the termination of employment. If the employer makes this

showing, the burden shifts back to the plaintiff to show that the proffered reasons were "pretextual." *See Scrivener*, 181 Wn.2d at 446.

Unlike other cases, the granting of a summary judgment to the defendant employer is rarely appropriate in a WLAD case because of the inherent proof problems that exist in such cases. *See Scrivener*, 181 Wn.2d at 445; *Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 138, 144, 94 P.3d 930 (2004).

The focus of this request for review is on the proper standards to be used to examine the second and third prongs of the *McDonnell Douglas* test in a summary judgment setting. The "legitimate, non-discriminatory reason" for termination of Mikkelsen stated by defendants was, "it wasn't working out." (CP 398-99) The Court of Appeals held, as a matter of law, this satisfied the second prong of the test and justified summary judgment in favor of the employer. If that is the case, there will never again be a discrimination case brought because all an employer will have to say is that, "it just wasn't working out," and according to the published portion of the Court of Appeals decision, that assertion will establish, as a matter of law, that summary judgment is appropriate for the employer.

Clarity is further needed on the third prong of the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis as set forth by the Court of Appeals. The record is clear that "after the fact", Mikkelsen was provided a memorandum authored by Ward as to the reasons for termination. It is undisputed that, with respect

to these specifically listed "reasons", Mikkelsen set forth a factual dispute as to each and every listed "reasons." (CP 471-73 and citations therein). Does this not create an issue of fact making summary judgment inappropriate?

Recall that Washington law is that the plaintiff need do **nothing further** with respect to this third prong.

The employee resisting summary judgment then must produce evidence that raises a genuine issue of material fact on whether the reasons given by the employer for discharging the employee are unworthy of belief or are mere pretext for what is in fact a discriminatory purpose. Sellsted, 69 Wash.App. at 859, 851 P.2d 716. The employee is not required to produce evidence beyond that offered to establish the prima facie case, nor introduce direct or "smoking gun" evidence. Sellsted, 69 Wash.App. at 860, 851 P.2d 716. Circumstantial, indirect, and inferential evidence will suffice to discharge the plaintiff's burden. Sellsted, 69 Wash.App. at 861, 851 P.2d 716. He must meet his burden of production to create an issue of fact but is not required to resolve that issue on summary judgment. "For these reasons, summary judgment in favor of employers is often inappropriate in employment discrimination cases." Sellsted, 69 Wash.App. at 861, 851 P.2d 716.

Rice, 167 Wn. App. at 89 (emphasis added).

The case law is clear that the plaintiff/employee need only create issues of fact with respect to these last two tests in order to be entitled to a trial on the merits. There is no question that Mikkelsen created such issues of fact. The Court of Appeals applied an incorrect standard. These were

the defendants' motions for summary judgment. All inferences and facts should have been drawn in favor of Mikkelsen. They were not.

This Court should take this opportunity to clarify the summary judgment standards and showings that are necessary in the summary judgment setting with respect to the application of the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis. If a plaintiff creates issues of fact on the various tests, trial should be required. The Court of Appeals had it backwards.

The Court should further address how, in this setting, a discrimination plaintiff is supposed to address "subjective" reasons for termination such as "it wasn't working out" or there were "relationship problems" or there were "trust factors." How does a discrimination plaintiff deal with those amorphous allegations? Say, "oh, yeah, was not?" Would that create an issue of fact?

Mikkelsen did exactly what she should have. She asked for the specifics as to why she was fired. She refuted all of those listed "reasons" even though the law says she did not have to do so. What else is a discrimination plaintiff supposed to do in order to be entitled to a trial? Isn't one of the inferences that should be drawn is that by disputing the alleged "reasons" they are simply pretext? Again, this Court should accept review in order to clarify and further define the showings that should be made on summary judgment in a WLAD discrimination case.

2. This Court should Address the Level of Language
Necessary to Disclaim Employer Policy Procedures and
Relate that to the Standards of Summary Judgment.
This Court Should Further Clarify the Proof Elements
Necessary on a Summary Judgment Motion to Enforce
Specific Treatment Terms of the Employer Policy

There are two recognized paths an at-will employee may take to enforce the terms of company policy statements. First, the contractual relationship between employer and employee can be modified by statements contained in employee policy statements. *See Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 219, 228, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984). This pathway presents an issue of fact for the jury to determine. *See Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d 512, 522, 826 P.2d 664 (1992). This is termed the "implied contract" theory. *See Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurants, Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 426, 433, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991).

The second pathway is distinct and independent of the first. The second pathway examines whether the employer has created an atmosphere of job security and fair treatment with promises of specific treatment in specific situations and the employee is induced thereby to remain on the job and not actively seek other employment. *See Thompson*, 102 Wn.2d at 228-29. This inquiry also presents issues of fact to be decided by the trier of fact and thus not normally amenable to a summary judgment motion. *See Swanson*, 118 Wn.2d at 525. This is often referred to as the specific

treatment, promissory estoppel, or justified reliance theory. *See Bulman v. Safeway, Inc.*, 144 Wn.2d 335, 27 P.3d 1172 (2001). These are two different theories with two different proof elements.

a. This Court Should Address the level of "Disclaimer" or "Discretion" that Need be Set forth in the Implied Contract Theory of Enforcement of an Employer Policy

Before addressing specifics, it is important to set forth the guiding principle related to the enforcement of employee handbooks:

An employee handbook is only useful if the policies and procedures set forth in it are followed by the employer and its management personnel. Instead of looking for new ways to avoid liability when handbook provisions are not followed, employers should concentrate on setting forth reasonable policies and ensuring compliance with these policies.

Swanson, 118 Wn.2d at 541; quoting The use of Disclaimers to Avoid Employer Liability Under Employee Handbook Provisions, 12 J.Corp.L.105, 119 (1986)(emphasis added).

The Court of appeals decision focused on the fact that the PUD Policy Statement had language that said it was "discretionary."

The rules set out here are intended only as guidelines, and do not give any employee a right to continued employment or any particular level of corrective action.

(CP 346).

True statement. However, the Court of Appeals recognized that this inquiry presents an issue of fact (App-33), it then decided the issue as a

matter of law because of this "discretionary" language cited above. This Court should now take the opportunity to set forth the proper inquiry. This was a summary judgment motion. If this is indeed an issue of fact, Mikkelsen created such a factual issue by demonstrating that, since its adoption, the discipline policy had been followed and, in fact, had never not been followed until her termination. She set forth that the purpose of the adoption of the policy was to protect both the employee and the employer so that the "rules of the game" were clearly set forth. (CP 317; 417-19; 556).

Kuest v. Regent Assisted Living, Inc, 111 Wn. App. 36, 51, 43 P.3d 23 (2002), cited by the Court of Appeals has no applicability since it involved a situation with an express disclaimer within the policy that the at will doctrine was not being abrogated. No such "disclaimer" is present in the PUD policy. This is an issue of fact and this Court should take the opportunity to clarify as to what language is necessary in the policy to take it out of the issue of fact arena and place it into the issue of law realm. Is there a "safe harbor" or will it always be an issue of fact. Mikkelsen created such issues of fact and is entitled to at trial on this issue.

b. This Court Should address the Summary Judgment Showing Necessary in the "Promises of Specific Treatment" Prong of the Enforcement of the Employee Manual.

This Court must consider the framework for contract analysis first set forth in *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990) when interpreting the employee policies. *Berg* mandates that "extrinsic evidence" must be viewed to aid the Court in determining the intent of the parties and thus interpret the contract. *Berg*, 115 Wn.2d at 667. This analysis is consistent with the rationale set forth in *Thompson*, *supra*, that, "the idea that whether the parties intended policies in an employment document to be part of their employment contract **involves issues of fact.**" *Swanson*, 118 Wn.2d at 523 (emphasis added).

In Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp., supra, the plaintiff was fired for fighting and sued his employer because fighting was not found in a list of offenses that would result in immediate termination. Swanson, 118 Wash.2d 512, 826 P.2d 664 (1992). The defendants in Swanson argued that disclaimer language stating that employees remained "at will" effectively precluded Plaintiff from relying on anything to the contrary. Sounds familiar. The Court held that summary judgment was inappropriate because it was up to a jury to determine whether a memorandum containing a provision about "Work Rights" and employee discipline modified the employee's at will employment status. Id. at 519-520. Even if equivocal or

disclaimer language is included in an effort to preclude the employee gaining anything but "at will" employment status, the courts will look at an employer's conduct to see if it negates or overrides a disclaimer. *Id.* at 519.

The progressive disciplinary provisions in the Corrective Action policy are specific enough to be enforced as contract terms. The extrinsic evidence existing shows that the Corrective Action policy was adopted when Plaintiff was the interim manager at the PUD in 2009. Others assisted in the work up of the document. The union steward and the union representative as well as her fellow managers Matt and Brian also reviewed and worked on it prior to the presentation to and adoption by the PUD Board. (CP 416, 421).

The primary purpose for developing the Corrective Action policy and presenting it to the Board was that Plaintiff wanted guidelines, approved by the Board, to be followed in the discipline process. This was especially important with the union employees that existed. (CP 417-18). Once the policy was adopted in 2009, it has been followed on two instances, both of which involved the issuance of a verbal warning. Once, while Plaintiff was interim general manager (CP 419-20) and once while Mr. Ward was the General Manager. (CP 317; 556). There was never any discussion nor dispute as to the use of the policy. There is no evidence that the policy was "not" used until Plaintiff was terminated by Defendant Ward. Thus, there is

a question of fact as to whether the defendants' actions effectively contravened any disclaimer of the terms of the Corrective Action Policy and thus modified the at-will employment of plaintiff.

The Court of Appeals continued its use of the wrong standard. It was the defendants who were moving for summary judgment and the Court of Appeals viewed the evidence presented and argument in a light most favorable to the <u>defendants</u>, not the plaintiff. That's wrong. For instance, at APP-37, the Court of Appeals notes that there is mandatory language in the Corrective Action policy that states, "Corrective action *must* be administered with due consideration of, and respect for, employee rights and expectations, whether those rights and expectations derive from employment policies, operation of law, or contract." The Court of Appeals deems this an "inconsequential mandatory term." (App-38). That could be true, but that is the jury's province and not that of the Court, on summary judgment, as a matter of law.

This Court should take the opportunity to address the proper standards for the enforcement of such employee manuals based upon evidence presented as to specific treatment. If there is a "safe harbor" for employers to use certain disclaimer language, this case clearly does not present such language, but, if it does, this Court should weigh in on the issue. If this is indeed an issue of fact to be considered in the *Berg v*.

Hudesman, ambit of case law, then Mikkelsen has presented sufficient extrinsic evidence to deny the defendants' motions for summary judgment and trial is necessary.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the above, Mikkelsen respectfully request that this Court grant Mikkelsen's Petition for Review of the decision of the Court of Appeals and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision and remand the case for trial on the issues presented.