## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 14, 2016, 3:05 pm

## RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93731-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### KIM MIKKELSEN

Petitioner

v.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT #1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY, JOHN HANSON, PAUL ROGERS, ROGER SPARKS, and CHARLES WARD,

Respondents

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sarah L. Wixson (WSBA#28423) STOKES LAWRENCE VELIKANJE MOORE & SHORE 120 N. Naches Avenue Yakima, WA 98901-2757 (509) 853-3000 slw@stokeslaw.com

> Attorneys for Respondents Public Utility District #1 of Kittitas County, John Hanson, Paul Rogers and Roger Sparks

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Public Utility District #1 of Kittitas County, John Hanson,
Paul Rogers, and Roger Sparks respectfully request this Court deny review
of the September 13, 2016 published in part opinion of the Court of
Appeals' opinion in Mikkelsen v. Public Utility District #1 of Kittitas
County et al.

#### II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.
- 2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of another decision of the Court of Appeals.
- 3. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.
- 4. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kim Mikkelsen was terminated from her employment with the Public Utility District #1 of Kittitas County ("the District") because "it just wasn't working out." CP at 319. Mikkelsen and her supervisor,

Charles Ward, had differing communication and management styles. CP 110, 115, 125, and 131. After a complete and mutual communication breakdown, they lost trust in one another and it became clear that they could no longer work together. CP 117, 123.

One final incident irrevocably undercut their working relationship and led to Mikkelsen's termination. While Ward was on vacation and without his knowledge or input, Mikkelsen suggested to one of the District's Commissioners that the Board send out an employee survey to evaluate, among other things, Ward's performance as a manager. CP 84. Ward was in the middle of union negotiations and his approval rating was "at an all-time low." CP 124. Ward believed that Mikkelsen's suggestion of a survey was an attempt to get him fired. CP 152. Ward fired Mikkelsen.

Mikkelsen asserts that such an unceremonious end to a 27-year career was unfair. She asserts that she should have received a lesser reprimand under the District's Corrective Action Policy. However, the policy, which was implemented by Mikkelsen herself, is expressly discretionary and promises no particular level of discipline.

There are no issues of fact regarding the circumstances which lead to Mikkelsen's termination. Mikkelsen was not fired because she was a woman or because she was over 40 years old. She was fired because she

had a personality conflict with her boss. Her termination was proper. The trial court granted summary judgment dismissing her claims. The Petitioner filed a timely appeal. On September 13, 2016, Division III of the Court of Appeals affirmed the summary dismissal of her claims.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme court if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The petition for review does not set forth any issue that falls within the scope of RAP 13.4(b).

# A. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the McDonnell-Douglas Test.

The burden shifting framework in *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973) is

commonly used where a plaintiff lacks direct evidence of discriminatory

motive. *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund–I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 180, 23 P.3d 440

(2001), overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec., 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006); Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., 162 Wn.2d 340, 354, 172 P.3d 688 (2007). Under this burden-shifting scheme, the plaintiff bears the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination. Hill, 144 Wn.2d at 181. If the plaintiff fails to establish a prima facie case, the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id.

If, however, the plaintiff succeeds in establishing a prima facie case, a "'legally mandatory, rebuttable presumption' " of discrimination temporarily takes hold and the burden shifts to the defendant to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its adverse employment action.

Id. If the defendant fails to meet its burden, the plaintiff is entitled to an order establishing liability as a matter of law because no issue of fact remains in the case. Id. at 181–82. If the defendant provides a nondiscriminatory reason for its employment action, the presumption established by the plaintiff's prima facie case is rebutted and it "simply drops out of the picture." Id. at 182 (quoting St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 510–11, 113 S. Ct. 2742, 125 L. Ed. 2d 407 (1993)).

The burden then shifts back to the plaintiff to show that the defendant's reason is actually pretext for what, in fact, is a discriminatory motive. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 182; *Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc.*,

110 Wn.2d 355, 364, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). If the plaintiff fails to make this showing, the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 182.

The PUD's reason for Mikkelsen's termination was that "it just wasn't working out." The Court of Appeals found that Mikkelsen and Ward had "conflicting management styles", which resulted in "overarching discord" and "loss of trust." A-25. In other contexts, "amorphous allegations" based upon "relationship problems" or "trust factors", may be rebutted on summary judgment, as Mikkelsen suggests, with a simple, "oh yeah, was not." (Br. p. 11). However, here Mikkelsen agrees that there was a complete and mutual communication breakdown and a lack of trust. CP 114, 123. Mikkelsen does not disagree with the reason for the discharge, but rather disagrees with Ward's characterization of its cause. The Court of Appeals declined to get "into the weeds" of specific conflicts, and concluded, that Mikkelsen "cannot show that PUD's reason was pretextual because her own testimony supports it." A-25.

Furthermore, even if both parties meet their requisite burdens, summary judgment is still proper if no rational trier of fact could conclude the action was discriminatory. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 186, 188–89. The Court of Appeals found that Mikkelsen's evidence was "insufficient to

permit a rational finder of fact to infer that the termination of her employment by Ward was more likely than not substantially motivated by discrimination." A-31.

The Court of Appeals did not err in applying the *McDonnell-Douglas* test nor is its decision in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a decision of another decision of the Court of Appeals.

B. A claim that an employer has made a contractual offer can fail as a matter of law when it is directly negated by other communications by the employer.

As a matter of law, the Court of Appeals found that Mikkelsen failed to demonstrate that the PUD's progressive discipline policy altered the at will nature of her employment. A-33. Mikkelsen seeks review of this decision asserting that the Court of Appeals failed to recognize the inquiry as an issue of fact.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the issue as a factual issue, but nonetheless found that because the claim of an offer was directly negated by "a number of provisions," reasonable minds could not differ as to its meaning. A-33 (citing *Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp.*, 118 Wn. 2d 512, 522, 826 P.2d 664, 669 (1992)). The Court of Appeals did not misstate the law nor is its decision in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a decision of another decision of the Court of Appeals.

# C. The use of discretionary language may defeat a claim of promise of specific treatment as a matter of law.

Mikkelsen also asserts that when the Court of Appeals determined that the PUD's corrective action policy did not promise specific treatment as a matter of law, it failed to view the evidence in the light most favorable to her. All facts and reasonable inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 183, 905 P.2d 355 (1995). Questions of fact may be determined on summary judgment as a matter of law where reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion. *Ruff v. County of King*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703-04, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

The corrective action policy is replete with discretionary language. CP 346-347. The policy contains one "mandatory" term which states, "Corrective action must be administered with due consideration of, and respect for, employee rights and expectations, whether those rights and expectations derive from employment policies, operation of law, or contract." CP 344. The Court of Appeals found that the term "must" is inconsequential because the use of corrective action is optional. "[I]f corrective action is used, then it must be administered with due consideration of employee rights and expectations." A-37 (emphasis in original).

Mikkelsen also asserts that she presented an issue of fact as to whether she had a reasonable expectation of corrective action. Two union employees received corrective action after the implementation of the policy. The Court of Appeals noted that "unlike the PUD's unionrepresented employees, Mikkelsen cannot point to any 'right or expectation' that needed to be considered or respected in taking corrective action against her." A-37.

Mikkelsen did not have evidence to support her reasonable expectation claims. Courts do not infer missing facts. The Court of Appeals did not apply the wrong standard nor is its decision in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a decision of another decision of the Court of Appeals.

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner's petition for discretionary review should be denied.